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INTER-AMERICAN COURT OF HUMAN RIGHTS

CASE OF TORRES MILLACURA ET AL. v. ARGENTINA

JUDGMENT OF AUGUST 26, 2011
(Merits, Reparations, and Costs)

In the Case of Torres Millacura et al.,

the Inter-American Court of Human Rights (hereinafter “the Inter-American Court,” “the
Court,” or “the Tribunal™), comprised of the following judges:

Diego Garcia-Sayan, President;
Manuel E. Ventura Robles, Judge;
Margarette May Macaulay, Judge;
Rhadys Abreu Blondet, Judge;
Alberto Pérez Pérez, Judge, and
Eduardo Vio Grossi, Judge;

also present,

Pablo Saavedra Alessandri, Secretary™,
In accordance with Articles 62(3) and 63(1) of the American Convention on Human
Rights (hereinafter “the Convention” or “the American Convention”) and with Articles

31, 32, 62, 64, 65, and 67 of the Rules of Procedure of the Court™ (hereinafter “the
Rules of Procedure”) renders this judgment, structured as follows:

*

The Vice-president of the Court, Judge Leonardo A. Franco, Argentinean, did not participate in the
present case pursuant to the Article 19(1) of the Rules of Procedure of the Court, according to “In the cases
referred to in Article 44 of the Convention, a Judge who is a national of the respondent State shall not be able
to participate in the hearing and deliberation of the case.”

%

Deputy Secretary Emilia Segares Rodriguez informed the Tribunal that she would not be present
during the deliberations on this Judgment for reasons of force majeure.

ok

Rules of procedure approved by the Court in its LXXXV Regular Period of sessions held from November
16 to November 28, 2009. According to the Article 79(2), “[i]n cases in which the Commission has adopted a
report under article 50 of the Convention before the these Rules of Procedure have come into force, the
presentation of the case before the Court will be governed by Articles 33 and 34 of the Rules of Procedure
previously in force. Statements shall be received with the aid of the Victim’s Legal Assistance Fund, and the
dispositions of these Rules of Procedure shall apply.”
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INTRODUCTION TO THE CASE AND PURPOSE OF THE DISPUTE

1. On April 18, 2010, the Inter-American Commission on Human Rights (hereinafter
“the Commission” or “the Inter-American Commission”) filed an application against the
Republic of Argentina (hereinafter “the State” or “Argentina”) before the Court in case
12.533, in keeping with Articles 51 and 61 of the Convention. The initial petition was
presented before the Commission on November 14, 2003, by Maria Leontina Millacura
Llaipén and the Asociacion Grupo-Pro Derechos de los Nifios [Association for the Rights
of the Children]. On October 13, 2005, the Commission issued its Report on Admissibility
No. 69/05. Later, on October 28, 2009, it approved the Report on the Merits 114/09
under the terms of Articles 50 of the Convention. In that report, the Commission found
the State internationally responsible and established several recommendations. Legal
notice of that report was served upon the State on November 18, 2009, and it was given
two months to report on the measures taken to comply with the Commission’s
recommendations. After two deadline extensions, the presentation of a report on the
status of the State’s compliance with the recommendations, the “lack of substantive
progress toward effective compliance with the recommendations,” and the wish
expressed by the petitioners that the case be brought before the Inter-American Court,
on April 18, 2010, the Commission decided to submit the case to the Tribunal's
jurisdiction. The Commission designated Mrs. Luz Patricia Mejia, Commissioner, and Mr.
Santiago A. Cantdn, Executive Secretary, as Delegates, with Mrs. Elizabeth Abi-Mershed,
Deputy Executive Secretary, and Maria Claudia Pulido, Paulina Corominas, Karla I.
Quintana Osuna, attorneys with the Executive Secretariat, as legal advisors.

2. The application is related to the alleged “arbitrary detention, torture, and
enforced disappearance of Ivan Eladio Torres [Millacura]®, which took place starting on
October 3, 2003, in the City of Comodoro Rivadavia, Province of Chubut, and the
subsequent lack of due diligence in the investigation of the facts, as well as the denial of
justice to the detriment of the victim’s family members.”

3. The Commission requested that the Court rule that the State of Argentina is
responsible for violations of Articles 7 (Right to Personal Liberty), 5 (Right to Humane
Treatment [Personal Integrity]), 4 (Right to Life), 3 (Right to Recognition of Juridical
Personality), 8 (Right to a Fair Trial [Judicial Guarantees]), and 25 (Right to Judicial
Protection) of the American Convention on Human Rights (hereinafter “Convention” or
“American Convention”), all with regard to Article 1(1) of the American Convention
(Obligation to Respect Rights), as well as the noncompliance of the obligations
established in Articles 1 and IX of the Inter-American Convention on Forced
Disappearance of Persons (hereinafter “Convention on Forced Disappearance), and
Articles 1, 6, and 8 of the Inter-American Convention to Prevent and Punish Torture
(hereinafter “Convention Against Torture”), all to the detriment of Ivan Eladio Torres.
Likewise, the Commission requested that the Court declare a violation of Articles 5
(Right to Humane Treatment [Personal Integrity]), 8 Right to a Fair Trial [Judicial
Guarantees]), and 25 (Right to Judicial Protection) of the American Convention, with
regard to Article 1(1) of the Convention (Obligation to Respect Rights), to the detriment
of the family members of Ivan Eladio Torres. In addition, the Commission alleged that
the State failed to comply with its obligation to adapt domestic law to the Convention
according to Article 2 of the Convention, with regard to Articles 3, 4, 5, 7, 8(1), 25, and
1(1) thereof. Finally, it requested the payment of certain reparations, as well as the
payment of costs and expenses for the case’s domestic and international litigation.

: In the birth certificate of Mr. Ivan Eladio Torres Millacura that was submitted to the file of the present

case, it is evident that it was registered under the last names “Torres Millacura” (Case file of annexes to the
application, tome X, folio 7315).



4. Legal notice of the application was provided to the representatives of the alleged
victims and to the State of Argentina on July 5, 2010.

5. On September 19, 2010, Mrs. Verodnica Heredia and Mrs. Silvia de los Santos,
from AMICIS, Clinica Juridica and Social Patagénica [AMICIS, Legal and Social Clinic of
the Patagonia], the organization representing the alleged victims, filed a brief of
pleadings, motions, and evidence (hereinafter, “brief of pleadings and motions”), under
the terms of Article 40 of the Rules of Procedure. As of February 18, 2011, Verdnica
Heredia José Raul Heredia (hereinafter, “the representatives”) have represented the
alleged victims.? In general, the representatives agreed substantially with the allegations
of the Commission. They also requested that the Tribunal declare violations of the rights
recognized in the following Articles: 7, 5, 3, 8, and 25 of the American Convention, in
relation to Article 1(1) thereof, and the noncompliance with the obligations established in
Articles I, II, Ill, and XI of the Convention on Forced Disappearance of Persons, and 1,
6, and 8 of the Convention Against Torture, to the detriment of Ivan Eladio Torres
Millacura; Articles 5, 8, and 25 of the American Convention, in relation to Article 1(1) of
the Convention, and Articles 1, 6, and 8 of the Convention Against Torture, to the
detriment of Maria Leontina Millacura Llaipén, Fabiola Valeria Torres, Marcos Alejandro
Torres Millacura, Evelyn Paola Caba, lvana Valeria Torres, and Romina Marcela Torres;
Articles 7, 5, 8, 25, 3, 2, 4(1), 19, and 26 of the American Convention, with regard to
Article 1(1) thereof and of “the Protocol of San Salvador,” Articles 2, 6, and 8 of the
Convention Against Torture, and IlIl of the Convention on Forced Disappearance of
Persons, to the detriment of Ivan Eladio Torres Millacura, Maria Leontina Millacura
Llaipén, Fabiola Valeria Torres, Marcos Alejandro Torres, Evelyn Paola Caba, lvana
Valeria Torres, and Romina Marcela Torres, and 2, in relation to Articles 3, 5, 7, 8, and
25 of the American Convention and 1(1) thereof. Finally, the representatives requested
certain reparations and the payment of costs and expenses, and they expressed that the
alleged victims wished to access the Victims Legal Aid Fund of the Inter-American Court
of Human Rights (hereinafter the “Legal Aid Fund”).

6. On January 28, 2011, the State filed its brief answering the application and
provided comments on the brief of pleadings and motions (hereinafter “answer to the
application”), under the terms of Article 41 of the Rules of Procedure. In that brief, the
State acknowledged its international responsibility, expressing “its willingness to accept
the conclusions contained in the Report [on the merits] passed by the [...] Commission,”
and the “legal consequences derived from it.” In this sense, it noted that it “exclusively
[acknowledged] the violations of rights established by the [...] Commission in [its] report
[on the merits].” However, the State expressly opposed the Commission’s
individualization of the victims in its application, the mention of the provisional measures
both by the Commission and the representatives, the arguments regarding specific
violations presented by them, the indication of the beneficiaries made by the
representatives, and the representatives’ requests for reparations. On August 9, 2010,
the State named Eduardo Acevedo Diaz as Head Agent and Alberto Javier Salgado and
Andrea G. Gualde as Alternate Agents.

7. On April 6 and 11, 2011, the representative and the Commission presented,

respectively, their observations on the State’s acknowledgment of international
responsibility in this case, in keeping with Article 62 of the Rules of Procedure.

1
PROCEEDING BEFORE THE COURT

8. Through an Order dated April 14, 2011, the President of the Court (hereinafter

2 On that date, the Tribunal was informed that the alleged victims had revoked “the authority granted to

AMICIS [...]” and therefore, to Silvia de los Santos.



“the President”) granted the request put forward by the alleged victims through their
representatives to have recourse to the Legal Aid Fund and approved granting the
financial assistance necessary for presenting a maximum of one witness testimony and
one expert witness report, and for a representative to be in attendance in the public
hearing to be summoned (infra para. 9).

9. Through an Order dated April 29, 2011, the President ordered the receipt via
sworn statements before notaries public (affidavits) of the testimonies of two alleged
victims and six witnesses, as well as one expert witness report. All were proposed by the
representatives. Likewise, through that Order, the President called the parties to a public
hearing to hear the testimony of Maria Leontina Millacura Llaipén, alleged victim, and the
expert witness report of Nora Cortiflas, both offered by the representatives, as well as
the expert witness report of Sofia Tiscornia, ordered ex officio by the President of the
Tribunal. The hearing was also to include the Commission’s final observations and the
final oral arguments of the representatives and the State on the merits, reparations, and
costs. Finally, the President ordered financial aid to be assigned to cover the travel and
lodging expenses necessary for Maria Leontina Millacura Llaipén and Nora Cortifias to be
able to appear before the Court and give their testimony and expert witness report
during the public hearing to be held in the case, and for one of the representatives of the
alleged victims to be able to attend the public hearing. The President also ordered a file
to be opened on expenses in which each of the outlays made in relation to the Legal Aid
Fund would be documented.

10. The public hearing was held on May 18, 2011, during the 43rd Special Period of
Sessions of the Court®, held in Panama City, Panama. During this hearing, the Court
requested that the State, upon presenting its final written arguments, submit certain
information and documentation.

11. On June 16, 2011, Sofia Tiscornia, expert witness named ex officio by the Court,
submitted the open presentation made during the public hearing held in this case, along
with additional information that the Court had requested during the public hearing.

12. On June 17, 2011, the State presented its final written arguments, as well as part
of the information the Tribunal requested during the public hearing. On June 20, 2011,
the Inter-American Commission and the representatives presented their comments and
final written arguments, respectively. In addition, the representatives submitted
information requested by the Court during the public hearing.

13. On June 30, 2011, following the instructions of the President of the Court, the
Secretariat asked the State to submit certain documentation as evidence to facilitate
adjudication. Notwithstanding, following the instructions of the President of the Court,
the Secretariat requested that the representatives and the State present observations to
the additional information submitted by the expert witness appointed ex oficio by the
Court (supra para. 11), and it requested that the representatives and the Inter-American
Commission on Human Rights present their observations to the documentation
presented by the State in the final written arguments (supra para. 12)

14. On July 7, 2011, the representatives presented their observations to specific
documentation submitted by the State through its final written arguments. (supra para.

3 The following people attended the hearing: a) for the Inter-American Commission: Luz Patricia Mejia,
delegated Commissioner, Karla Quintana Osuna, Advisor, and Silvia Serrano Guzman, Advisor; for the
representatives, Verénica Heredia, and c) for the State: Dr. Alberto Javier Salgado, Director of the
International Conflicts Division of the Human Rights Directorate; representative of the Ministry of Foreign
Relations, International Trade and Culture, Agent; Dra. Julia Loreto, representative of the Ministry of Foreign
Relations, International Trade and Culture; Dr. Pilar Mayoral, representative of the Human Rights Secretariat of
the Nation; and Dr. Ramiro Badia, representative of the Human Rights Secretariat of the Nation.
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12).

15. On July 14, 2011, following the instructions of the President of the Court, the
Secretariat asked the Inter-American Commission, the representatives, and the States
for clarifications on certain documents provided by the parties as evidence in this case.

16. On June 14 and 18, 2011, the State presented the remaining annexes to its final
written arguments, as well as the information the Tribunal requested during the public
hearing.

17. On July 18, 2011, the representatives submitted to the Court the clarifications
that had been requested by the President (supra para. 15), as well as their observations
to the additional information submitted by the expert witness Sofia Tiscona (supra para.
13).

18. On July 19, 2011, the State submitted to the Court some of the documents that
had been requested by the President as evidence to facilitate adjudication, as well as the
clarifications requested by the President (supra para. 15).

19. On July 21, 2011, the Inter-American Commission presented its comments on
certain documentation submitted by the State through its final written arguments, and
the clarifications requested by the President (supra paras. 12 and 15).

20. On July 22, 2011, following instructions of the President of the Court, the
Secretariat requested that the parties present their observations to the clarifications filed
by the Commission, the representatives, and the State, respectively (supra paras. 17,
18, and 19).

21. On August 4, 2001, the representatives presented their observations to the
documentation submitted by the State through its final written arguments, on the
documentation related to the information that the Court requested of the State during
the public hearing, and to the evidence to facilitate adjudication and clarification
requested of the State (supra paras. 10, 12 and 18). That same day, the State
submitted its observations to the clarification requested by the Court from the Inter-
American Commission and the representatives (supra para. 20), and the Commission
indicated that it had no observations.

22. On August 11, 2011, following the instructions of the President of the Court, the
Secretariat asked the State for its observations regarding the Legal Aid Fund’s file on
expenses. On August 18, 2011, the State indicated that it had no observations.

23. On August 21, 2011, the representatives filed a brief, by which the Court was
informed about the occurrence of supervening facts.

24. On August 24, 2011, the Secretariat, following instructions of the President,
requested the Inter-American Commission on Human Rights and the State to present
their observations to the brief of the representatives regarding the supervening facts
(supra para. 23).

25. On August 25 and 26, 2011, the Inter-American Commission on Human Rights
and the State, respectively, filed the observations requested regarding the supervening
facts reported by the representatives (supra para. 24).
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PROVISIONAL MEASURES

26. On June 20, 2006, the Commission asked the Court to order the State to adopt
provisional measures in favor of the following individuals: Maria Leontina Millacura
Llaipén, her children Fabiola Valeria Torres and Marcos Alejandro Torres Millacura, her
son-in-law Juan Pablo Caba; Gerardo Colin; Patricio Oliva; Tamara Bolivar; Walter
Mansilla; Silvia de los Santos; Verénica Heredia; Miguel Angel Sanchez; and Viviana and
Sonia Hayes. The request was related to petition in proceedings before the Commission.
The following day, the President of the Tribunal ordered urgent measures in favor of
those individuals and summoned the Inter-American Commission, the representatives of
the beneficiaries, and the State to a public hearing.*

27. On July 6, 2006, the public hearing was held. That same day, the Court issued an
Order that, among other things, ratified the measures ordered by the President. It also
broadened the provisional measures to include “the granddaughters of Mrs. Maria
Millacura Llaipén[,] Mrs. Marcela [de Marcos Torres], Alberto and Noelia Hayes, and Luis
Alberto Fajardo.” The Court declined to broaden the provisional measures in favor of Mr.
Ivan Eladio Torres as requested by the representatives, considering that the purpose of
these Wc":_)lS under the consideration of the Commission during its processing of the
petition.

28. On February 6, 2008, the Tribunal issued an Order confirming the provisional
measures ordered on July 6, 2006, and denying a request brought by the
representatives that they be broadened in favor of Cristian Gamin, Diego Alvarez, Luis
Alberto Alcaina, Mauricio Agluero, and Ivan Eladio Torres. Likewise, it requested the State
to submit a report specifying the facts and circumstances that caused the death of Mr.
Walter Mansilla, beneficiary of the provisional measures, in light of the fact that the
information previously provided by the petitioners and the State “did not allow the
Tribunal to determine whether the cause of Mr. Mansilla’s death [was] linked with the
facts that gave rise to the adoption of the [...] provisional measures.” ®

29. As of the rendering of this Judgment, the provisional measures ordered remain in
force.

v
JURISDICTION

30. The Court has jurisdiction to hear this case under Article 62(3) of the American
Convention on Human Rights, as Argentina has been a State Party to the Convention
since September 5, 1984, and it recognized the contentious jurisdiction of the Court on
that same date. Likewise, Argentina has been a Party to the Inter-American Convention
to Prevent and Punish Torture since March 31, 1989, and has been party to the Inter-
American Convention on Forced Disappearance of Persons since February 28, 1996.

4 Cf. Matter Millacura Llaipén et al. Request of Provisional Measures regarding Argentina. Order of the

President of the Inter-American Court of the Human Rights of June 21, 2006, Operative paragraphs one and
seven.

5 Cf. Matter Millacura Llaipén et al. Provisional Measures regarding Argentina. Order of the Inter-

American Court of the Human Rights of July 6, 2006, considering clause 14 and operative paragraphs one and
two.

6 Cf. Matter Millacura Llaipén et al. Provisional Measures regarding Argentina. Order of the Inter-

American Court of Human Rights of February 6, 2008, considering clauses 13, 22, 13, 14, and operative
paragraphs one and three.
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PARTIAL ACKNOWLEDGMENT OF INTERNATIONAL RESPONSIBILITY

31. In its answer to the application, the State accepted its international responsibility
for the facts argued by the Inter-American Commission in the following terms:

[t]he Argentine State understands that, given that the relevant authorities in the Province of
Chubut have not been able to eliminate the possibility that State agents participated in the
enforced disappearance of Ivan Eladio Torres [Millacura], and recognizing that their
participation is presumed, in light of the applicable interpretive standards of international
human rights law and the provisions of Article 38 of the Rules of Procedure of the [Inter-
American Commission], this is sufficient to place objective responsibility for the facts
denounced on the Province of Chubut and, therefore, upon the National State.

Taking this into account, and taking into consideration the international nature of the rights
violations previously recognized and having taken place in the jurisdiction of the Province of
Chubut, the Government of the Republic of Argentina expresses its willingness to accept the
conclusions contained in the [R]eport [on the merits] adopted by the [Inter-American
Commission] in keeping with the provisions of Article 50 of the American Convention, along
with the juridical consequences derived therefrom.

32. Similarly, during the public hearing, the State indicated that, “in line with its
traditional policy of cooperation with the organs of the Inter-American System of Human
Rights, [...] far from litigating the case or submitting opposing legal arguments, [the
State] set forth its best efforts to come to a friendly settlement [...] all throughout the
proceedings before the [Inter-American]Court” and, “consistent” with its position,
reiterated to the Court its responsibility as stated in the answer to the application.
However, the State also clearly expressed that it rejected the statements of the Inter-
American Commission in its application and of the representatives in their brief of
pleadings and motions with regard to the provisional measures ordered by the Court in
the matter of Millacura Llaipén et al. regarding Argentina (supra paras. 1 to 3, and 5);
the Inter-American Commission’s identification of one of Ivan Eladio Torres Millacura’s
nieces as an alleged victim in the case; the violations alleged by the representatives of
Articles 1(1), 2, 3, 4, 5, 7, 8, 19, 25, and 26 of the American Convention, 1, 2, 6, and 8
of the Convention against Torture, Il of the Convention on Forced Disappearance, and
the “Protocol of San Salvador” as a whole, to the detriment of Ivan Eladio Torres, Maria
Leontina Millacura Llaipén, Fabiola Valeria Torres, Marcos Alejandro Torres, Evelyn Paola
Caba, Ivana Valeria Torres, and Romina Marcela Torres, in relation to the section on
“[c]itizen [s]ecutiry and [hJuman [r]ights” of the brief containing pleadings and motions;
the alleged existence of a practice of massive and systematic violations of human rights
in Argentina alleged by the representatives; other facts not included in the Commission's
Report on the merits; ° and the specific claims for reparations set out by the
representatives, including the identifications of the beneficiaries.

33. The Commission stated that it positively assessed the State’s acknowledgment of
responsibility. It also indicated that it understood the acknowledgment to include “both
the acceptance of the factual framework of the [R]eport on the merits - which is the
same as that in the application - and the juridical consequences it establishes.” The
representatives indicated that the State’s “acquiescence meant the legitimacy” of both
the Commission’s application and the brief of pleadings and motions of the
representatives.

34. In keeping with Articles 62 and 64 of the Rules of Procedure® and in exercise of its
powers of international judicial protection of human rights, an issue of international

7 These include other detentions undergone by Mr. Torres not mentioned in the Report of the

Commission, the alleged abuses suffered by Mrs. Millacura Llaipén at the hands of the police, and the alleged
facts that occurred in relation to other persons not mentioned as victims in the Report on the Merits.

8 The pertinent parts of articles 62 and 64 of the Rules of Procedure of the Court establish the following:



public order that transcends the will of the parties, it is the Court’s responsibility to
ensure that acts of acquiescence are acceptable for the goals sought by the Inter-
American System. It is not limited in this task to verifying, registering, or taking note of
the acknowledgment made by the State, nor to verifying the formal conditions of those
acts of acquiescence. Rather, it must examine them in light of the nature and
seriousness of the alleged violations, the demands and interests of justice, the specific
circumstances of the particular case, and the attitudes and positions of the parties® in
such a way that, where possible and within the exercise of its competence, it can
establish the truth regarding what took place. Additionally, the Court observes that the
evolution of the system of human rights protection currently allows alleged victims or
their family members to autonomously submit their brief of pleadings, motions, and
evidence and put forward claims that may or may not coincide with those of the
Commission. Therefore, when an acquiescence is presented, the State must clearly
express whether it accepts the claims made by the alleged victims or their family
members. *°

35. The Court observes that the State’s acknowledgment of responsibility refers to
the Commission’s Report on the merits and not to the application it presented before the
Tribunal in this case. Upon comparing these documents, the Court notes that the parts
corresponding to allegations of fact and law and to reparations are essentially identical,
with only a few differences, such as: the specific allegation of the violation of Article 1(b)
of the Convention on Forced Disappearance that appears in paragraph 209 of the
application but not in the corresponding paragraph of the Report on the merits; the
individualization of some victims in paragraph 275 of the Report on the merits with
regard to the alleged violation of Article 5 of the American Convention to the detriment
of the “immediate family of Ivan Eladio Torres,” a reference not found in the application;
and the individualization of three relatives of Ivan Eladio Torres, indicated in paragraph
256 of the application with regard to the reparations requested by the Commission, an
individualization that is not found in the Report on the merits. Additionally, the State
expressly rejected the allegations of law that were formulated by the representatives in
addition to those presented by the Inter-American Commission,*! the representatives’

Article 62. Acquiescence

If the respondent informs the Court of its acceptance of the facts or its total or partial acquiescence to
the claims stated in the presentation of the case or the brief submitted by the alleged victims or their
representatives, the Court shall decide, having heard the opinions of all those participating in the
proceedings and at the appropriate procedural moment, whether to accept that acquiescence, and
shall rule upon its juridical effects.

Article 64. Continuation of a case

Bearing in mind its responsibility to protect human rights, the Court may decide to continue the
consideration of a case notwithstanding the existence of the conditions indicated in the preceding
Articles.

9 Cf. Case of Kimel V. Argentina. Merits, Reparations and Costs. Judgment of May 2, 2008. Series C No.

177, para. 24; Case of Vélez Loor V. Panama. Preliminary Objections, Merits, Reparations and Costs. Judgment
of November 23 of 2010. Series C No. 218, para. 63, and Case of Abrill Alosilla et al. V. Perd. Merits
Reparations and Costs. Judgment of March 4, 2011. Series C No. 223, para. 22.

10 Cf. Case of Myrna Mack Chang V. Guatemala. Merits, Reparations and Costs. Judgment of November

25, 2003. Series C No. 101, para. 29; Case of the “Las Dos Erres” Massacre V. Guatemala. Preliminary
Objection, Merits, Reparations and Costs. Judgment of November 24, 2009. Series C No. 211, para. 29, and
Case of Ibsen Cardenas and Ibsen Pefia V. Bolivia. Merits, Reparations and Costs. Judgment of September 1,
2010 Series C No. 217, para. 33.

1 As has already been mentioned, these refer to the violations of Articles 1(1), 2, 3, 4, 5, 7, 8, 19, 25,

and 26 of the American Convention; 1, 2, 6, and 8 of the Convention Against Torture; 11l of the Convention on
Forced Disappearance; and the “Protocol of San Salvador” as a whole alleged by the representatives to the
detriment of Ivan Eladio Torres Millacura, Maria Leontina Millacura Llaipén, Fabiola Valeria Torres, Marco
Alejandro Torres, Evelyn Paola Caba, lvana Valeria Torres, and Romina Marcela Torres, in relation to the
section on “[c]itizen [s]ecurity and [hJuman [r]ights” of the brief of pleadings and motions.
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allegation of the existence of massive and systematic violations in Argentina, and their
claims for reparations and the beneficiaries thereof. (supra para. 5)

36. The Tribunal therefore finds that the State acknowledged the totality of the facts
presented by the Commission, that is, those related to Mr. Torres's detentions carried
out in September and October 2003, his enforced disappearance as of October 2003, the
lack of due diligence in the investigation into the facts, and the suffering caused to some
of Mr. Torres's family members. However, the State did not accept all the facts alleged
by the representatives, such as other detentions not mentioned in the Merits Report as
having occurred to Mr. Torres, and alleged abuses suffered by other persons that were
not identified as victims in the Report on the merits. Likewise, the State did not
acquiesce to the totality of the Commission’s allegations of law, nor to those of the
representatives, nor to the identification of the victims, “family members,” or
beneficiaries, nor to the representatives’ pleadings on reparations. The dispute therefore
continues in regards to the violation of Article 1(b) of the Convention on Forced
Disappearance alleged by the Commission in its application; the violation of Articles
1), 2, 3, 4,5, 7, 8,19, 25, and 26 of the American Convention, 1, 2, 6, and 8 of the
Convention against Torture, Il of the Convention on Forced Disappearance, and the
“Protocol of San Salvador” as alleged by the representatives; the identification of Evelyn
Paola Caba, Ivana Valeria Torres, and Romina Marcela Torres as alleged victims; and
regarding all of the representatives' claims for reparations. For this reason, the Court
qualifies as partial the State’s acknowledgment of responsibility.

37. The Court deems that the State’s acquiescence to responsibility, as Argentina
has done in other Cases before the Court, '? constitutes a positive contribution to the
development these proceedings and a reinforcement of the principles that inspire the
American Convention. ** Furthermore, the Court considers, as in other cases, '* that this
acquiescence has full legal effect as stipulated in Articles 62 and 64 of the Rules of the
Court, and that it has a high symbolic value in the interest of keeping similar violations
from happening again. However, it is necessary to specify the scope of the acquiescence,
and under that framework, rule on the disputes that persist. Consequently, based on its
attributes, which require it to ensure the greatest protection of human rights, the Court
shall deliver a Judgment in which it establishes the facts and determines the merits of
the case, as well as their corresponding consequences.*®

Vi
EVIDENCE

38. Based on Articles 46, 50, and 58 of its Rules of Procedure, as well as on its
jurisprudence related to evidence and the examination thereof, '° the Court will examine

12

Cf. Case of Garrido and Baigorria V. Argentina. Merits. Judgment of February 2, 1996. Series C No.
26; Case of Bulacio V. Argentina. Merits, Reparations and Costs. Judgment of September 18, 2003. Series C
No. 100; Case of Bueno Alves V. Argentina. Merits, Reparations and Costs. Judgment of May 11, 2007. Series
C No. 164, and Case of Kimel V. Argentina. Merits, Reparations and Costs. Judgment of May 2, 2008 Series C
No. 177.

13

Cf. Case of Trujillo Oroza V. Bolivia. Merits. Judgment of Janury 26, 2000. Series C No. 64, para. 42;
Case of Ibsen Cardenas and Ibsen Pefia V. Bolivia. Merits, Reparations and Costs. Judgment of September 1,
2010. Series C No. 217, para. 37, and Case of Abrill Alosilla et al. V. Perd. Merits Reparations and Costs.
Judgment of March 4, 2011. Series C No. 223, para. 26.

14 Cf. Case of Acevedo Jaramillo et al. V. Perd. Preliminary Objections, Merits, Reparations and Costs.

Judgment of February 7, 2006. Series C No. 144, paras. 176 to 180; Case of Kimel V. Argentina, supra note
13, paras. 23 to 25, and Case of Abrill Alosilla et al. V. Peru, supra note 14, para. 26.

15 Cf. Case of the MapiripAn Massacre V. Colombia. Merits, Reparations and Costs. Judgment of

September 15, 2005. Series C No. 134, para. 69; Case of Ibsen Cardenas and Ibsen Pefia V. Bolivia, supra
note 14, para. 30, and Case of Abrill Alosilla et al. V. Peru, supra note 14, para. 27.

16 Cf. Case of the “White Van” (Paniagua Morales et al.) V. Guatemala. Reparations and Costs. Judgment

of May 25, 2001. Series C No. 76, para. 50; Case of Vera Vera et al. V. Ecuador. Preliminary Objection, Merits,
Reparations and Costs. Judgment of May 19, 2011. Series C No. 224, para. 19, and Case of Mejia Idrovo V.
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and weigh the documentary evidence submitted by the parties on various occasions
during the proceedings, as well as the statements of the victims and the expert witness
reports rendered via affidavit and during the public hearing before the Court, along with
the evidence to facilitate adjudication of the case that was requested by the Tribunal
(supra paras. 10 and 13). In doing so, the Court will follow the rules of sound judgment,
within the applicable legal framework.’

A. Documentary, testimonial, and expert evidence.

39. The Court received various documents presented as evidence by the Inter-
American Commission, the representative, and the State along with their principal briefs
(supra paras. 1, 5, and 6). Likewise, the Court received the testimony given before
notaries public (affidavits) by the following alleged victims, witnesses, and expert
witnesses®®:

a) Fabiola Valeria Torres and Marcos Alejandro Torres Millacura. Alleged victims,
siblings of Ivan Eladio Torres Millacura. Testimony offered by the representatives.
They addressed the composition of the family prior to October 2, 2003, their
brother’s activity at the moment of his alleged forced disappearance, and his
relationship with the police of the Province of Chubut prior to October 2, 2003;
the circumstances of his alleged enforced disappearance on October 2, 2003; the
various attempts made by them to discover his whereabouts in the period
immediately following his alleged disappearance; the alleged responses to and
attitude toward these attempts on the part of the authorities; the alleged lack of
State willingness to investigate the facts and the consequences of all these
situations; the alleged lack of State willingness to provide information on the
judicial proceedings initiated as a consequence of the alleged enforced
disappearance of Ivan Eladio Torres Millacura; the supposed obstacles faced by
the family since his disappearance; and the consequences for their personal and
family life after October 2, 2003.

b) Miguel Angel Sanchez. Witness. Testimony offered by the representatives.
Addressed the circumstances in which he met Ivan Eladio Torres Millacura and
the time and place in which he stayed with him; the circumstances of the alleged
enforced disappearance; and the attempts made to speak with Mrs. Maria
Leontina Millacura Llaipén, the mother of Ivan Eladio Torres Millacura.

c) Tamara Bolivar. Friend of Ivan Eladio Torres Millacura. Witness. Testimony
offered by the representatives. Addressed the circumstances under which she
met Mr. Torres Millacura and the friendship that she maintained with him; the
relationship that Ivan Eladio Torres and his friends maintained with the police of
the Province of Chubut; the circumstances of his alleged enforced disappearance
on October 2, 2003; her various attempts to discover his whereabouts in the
period immediately following his alleged disappearance; the alleged responses to
and attitude toward these attempts on the part of the authorities; the alleged
lack of State willingness to investigate the facts and the consequences of all these
situations; and the alleged lack of State willingness to provide information on the

Ecuador. Preliminary Objections, Merits, Reparations and Costs. Judgment of July 5, 2011 Series C No. 228,
para. 36.

v Cf. Case of the “White Van” (Paniagua Morales et al.) V. Guatemala, supra note 17, para. 75; Case of

Vera Vera et al. V. Ecuador, supra note 17, para. 19, and Case of Mejia Idrovo V. Ecuador, supra note 17,
para. 36.

18 The representatives did not present the Tribunal with the sworn statements given before notaries

public (affidavit) by Gerardo Colin and Patricio Oliva, offered by them in the brief of pleadings and motions,
ordered through an Order of the President of the Tribunal dated April 29, 2011 (supra para. **).
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judicial proceedings launched as a consequence of the alleged enforced
disappearance of Ivan Eladio Torres Millacura.

d) Alejandro Mejias Fonrouge and Eduardo Arizaga. Members of the Special
Investigation Unit set up to investigate the alleged disappearance of Ivan Eladio
Torres. Expert witness statement offered by the representatives. They referred to
the investigations carried out by that Unit; the existing body of evidence; the
conduct and levels of cooperation on the part of authorities during the
investigations, and the conclusions reached through their investigation.

e) Gaston Zoroastro. Psychologist. Expert witness statement offered by the
representatives. Referred to the psychological effects of the alleged enforced
disappearance of Ivan Eladio Torres on his family as a group and on each of its
members: Maria Leontina Millacura Laipén, Fabiola Valeria Torres and Marcos
Alejandro Torres Millacura, Evelyn Caba, and Ivana and Romina Torres. They also
addressed the questions posed by the State. *°

40. With regard to the evidence given during the public hearing, the Court heard the
testimony of:

a) Maria Leontina Millacura Llaipén, mother of Ivan Eladio Torres. Alleged victim.
Testimony offered by the representatives. She addressed the composition of the
family prior to October 2, 2003; her son’s activity at the moment of his alleged
enforced disappearance, and his relationship with the police of the Province of
Chubut prior to October 2, 2003; the circumstances of his alleged enforced
disappearance on October 2, 2003; the various attempts made by her to discover
his whereabouts in the period immediately following his alleged disappearance;
the alleged responses to and attitude toward these attempts on the part of the
authorities; the alleged lack of State willingness to investigate the facts and the
consequences of all these situations; the alleged lack of State willingness to
provide information on the judicial proceedings launched as a consequence of the
alleged enforced disappearance of Ivan Eladio Torres; the alleged obstacles faced
by the family since his disappearance, and the consequences for her personal and
family life after October 2, 2003.

b) Nora Cortifias, Social Psychologist. Expert witness statement offered by the
representatives. Addressed the causes and consequences of the alleged
phenomenon of enforced disappearances in the Province of Chubut, Argentina;
the socio-cultural patterns that make the alleged violations of human rights by
police personnel of the Province of Chubut possible; the socio-cultural patterns
that condition judicial actions with regard to the enforced disappearance of
persons; the alleged needs for institutional strengthening and adoption of holistic
strategies for preventing, sanctioning, and eradicating the alleged enforced
disappearances in the Province of Chubut; access to justice for the victims of
enforced disappearance and their families; the alleged conduct of authorities with

19

In application of Article 50(5) of the Rules of Procedure, on May 5, 2011, the State prepared four
questions to be answered by the expert witness Gastén Zoroastro when giving his statement before the notary
public. The State requested that the expert witness: i) answer whether the disappearance of Ivan Torres
psychiatrically affected the members of his family, particularly Maria Leontina Millacura Llaipén and Marcos
Alejandro Torres Millacura, Evelyn Caba, and Ivana and Romina Torres. In the affirmative case, that he
describe the psychiatric diagnosis; ii) in the hypothetical case that psychological damage exists, differentiate
between the different levels of incapacity, its range, and scales used for its determination in each of the cases;
iii) describe the tests carried out on each of the individuals indicated in point i) and submit a copy of the
psychological examination, graphics, etc. that provide scientific backing for his conclusions; and iv) indicate if
due to the “fact on the record (the disappearance of Ivan Torres),” the individuals indicated in point i) need to
be submitted to some kind of treatment. Should the answer be yes, that he indicate its cost, duration, and
possible prognosis.
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regard to enforced disappearances, and the alleged situation of impunity that
reigns in the Province of Chubut.

c) Sofia Tiscornia, Anthropologist and Doctor of Philosophy and Letters with a
concentration in Social Anthropology. Expert witness statement ordered ex officio
by the Tribunal. Addressed alleged police abuse of low-income young people that
took place in the Province of Chubut, as well as the alleged lack of investigation
and punishment of those responsible for the violations and the alleged lack of
access to justice in this regard.

B. Admission of the evidence.

41. In this case, as in others, the Court accepts the probative value of the documents
presented by the parties at the proper procedural moment that were not contested or
opposed, and whose authenticity was not questioned. ?° The documents that the Tribunal
requested as evidence to facilitate adjudication (supra paras. 10 and 13) are
incorporated into the body of evidence under Article 58 of the Rules of Procedure, when
and if they are presented within the period established to do so. In this regard, the State
has not submitted certain documentation requested by the Court.?* Consequently, as it
has done in other cases, the Court may consider facts alleged by the Commission and
complemented by the representatives as established when those allegations could only
be refuted with evidence that the State should have submitted and did not. ??

42. As far as the “[m]edia documents” presented by the parties, the Court finds, as it
has on multiple occasions, that they can be admitted when they contain public and
widely-known facts or statements from State officials, or when they corroborate certain
aspects of the case. 23 Therefore, in this case, the Court will consider those documents
that are complete or that at least allow for the confirmation of their source and date of
publication. 2*

43. The Tribunal admits the documentation issued by the representatives in their brief
of pleadings and motions that form part of the file on the provisional measures ordered
in the matter of Millacura Llaipén et al. regarding Argentina (supra para. 5) and of the
case file on precautionary measures before the Inter-American Commission on the same
matter. The Court admits only those documents that were duly individualized and
identified,?® as long as they refer to facts alleged in this contentious case that form part

20 Cf. Case of Velasquez Rodriguez V. Honduras. Merits. Judgment of July 29, 1988. Series C No. 4, para.
140; Case of Vera Vera et al. V. Ecuador, supra note 17, para. 22, and Case of Mejia Idrovo V. Ecuador, supra
note 17, para. 38. The Court did not admit the additional report of Mrs. Nora Cortifias and the report of the
Grupo Pro Derechos de los Nifios [Group Pro Children’s Rights] submitted by the representatives during their
written final arguments because they were not requested by the Court. Moreover, the Court does not admit the
documents presented by the State in its written final arguments relative to the alleged expenditures already
made in favor of Mrs. Millacura Llaipén and other family members of Ivan Eladio Torres, as they were time
barred.

21 The State did not present the copy of the daily police record of the First Police Station of Comodoro
Rivadavia city, Province of Chubut, corresponding to October 3, 2003.

22 Cf. Radilla Pacheco V. México. Preliminary Objections, Merits, Reparations and Costs. Judgment of
November 23, 2009. Series C No. 209, para. 92, and Case of Vera Vera et al. V. Ecuador, supra note 17, para.
24.

23 Cf. Case of Velasquez Rodriguez, supra note 21, para. 146; Case of Abrill Alosilla et al. V. Pera, supra
note 14, para. 40, and Case of Chocrén Chocrén V. Venezuela. Preliminary Objection, Merits, Reparations and
Costs. Judgment of July 1, 2011. Series C No. 227, para. 30.

24 Cf. Radilla Pacheco V. México, supra note 23, para. 77; Case of Ibsen Cardenas and lIbsen Pefia V.
Bolivia, supra note 14, para. 27, and Case of Chocrén Chocrén V. Venezuela, supra note 24, para. 30.

25 In the Secretariat's note of October 19, 2010, the representatives were told that, “in relation to the
case files ‘CIDH Case of N° 12.533 and MC 9/05,” and the case file ‘Corte IDH Millacura Llaipén, Maria Leontina
y otros.-Medidas Provisionales-Argentina,’ they were asked to [...] submit only those documents cited in the
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of its factual basis (infra para. 52). Those documents will be assessed in the context of
the body of evidence as a whole.

44. The Court finds it appropriate to admit the testimony and expert witness reports
given in this case, as they meet the objectives defined by the President in the Order to
receive them (supra para. 9). They will be examined in the corresponding chapter,
together with the other elements of the body of evidence, taking into account the
comments submitted by the State.?® Pursuant to this Tribunal's jurisprudence, the
testimony given by the alleged victims cannot be weighed in isolation. Rather, it will be
examined together with the rest of the evidence in the proceeding, as it is useful
because it can provide more information on the alleged violations and their
consequences. %’

Vil
PRELIMINARY CONSIDERATIONS

A. Alleged victims.

45. In the application, the Inter-American Commission asked the Court to find a
violation of Articles 5, 8, and 25 of the American Convention, to the detriment of Mr.
Torres's “family members.” Likewise, it “br[ought]to the Court’s [...] attention that at
the time the [R]eport on the merits was approved, it made a generic reference to the
relatives of Ivan Eladio Torres,” but that in addition, “the mother, Maria [Leontina]
Millacura Llaipén, Ivan’s sister, Fabiola Valeria Torres, his brother, Marcos [Alejandro]
Torres [Millacura], and Ivan [Eladio Torres Millacura’s] niece, Evelyn Paola Caba, were
mentioned as victims.” The Commission added that nevertheless, “following the approval
of the [R]eport on the merits and in light of the practices existing at that time, the
petitioners reported to the Commission of other relatives. Among them were his brother-
in-law, Juan Pablo Caba, and two more nieces: Ivana Valeria Torres and Romina Marcela
[Torres],” to which reason the Commission “add[ed]” their names to its application.

46. The representatives expressed that the Rules of Procedure of the Court “seem to
limit its own capacity to interpret the [American Convention] by putting the
‘identification of the alleged victims]’ under the [Commission’s] authority. This
consequently limits [the alleged victims] in their right to access the [Court’s] jurisdiction

brief of pleadings, motions, and evidence, which must be duly individualized and identified, in accordance with
Article 28(3) of the Court's Rules of Procedure.” (case file on the Merits, tome 1, folio 605). The
representatives submitted, for example, complete or almost complete tomes of the case file already submitted
by the Commission to the Court, without specifying which documents they were submitting to the Tribunal.

26 The State expressed that in the statements rendered by affidavit by Miguel Angel Sanchez and Tamara

Elizabeth Bolivar “reference is made to facts and situations far from the specific purpose that they were asked
to testify about, reason for which the State understood that considerations regarding the alleged strictly
personal experiences referred to by both declarants should not be taken into account by the Court.” Moreover,
it noted that the Statement of Mr. Marcos Alejandro Torres Millacura, the answer to the question regarding the
work carried out by Mr. Ivan Eladio Torres Millacura before October 2, 2003, lacked probative substance, a
circumstance which “did not allow for its consideration as an element that could establish the reparatory claims
of the petitioner.” Regarding the expert opinion rendered by Mr. Gastén Adrian Zoroastro, the State noted that
he indicated that he had carried out “3 family interviews: one with the mother and daughter, with the mother
and son, and another with the mother and both children,” but, nevertheless, upon continuation, made a
separate reference to that stated by each one of the adults without going into detail on the situation of Fabiola
Valeria Torres “given her advanced stage of pregnancy,” without specifying anything regarding the three nieces
of Ivan Eladio Torres Millacura.

27

Cf. Case of Loayza Tamayo V. Peru. Merits. Judgment of September 17, 1997. Series C No. 33, para.
43; Case of Vera Vera et al. V. Ecuador, supra note 17, para. 24, and Case of Chocrén Chocrén V. Venezuela,
supra note 24, para. 34.
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[in keeping with the Rules of Procedure], as it is not therefore a full right to present
issues of fact and law before [the Court].” They indicated that “the complaint was filed,
the facts denounced were continually added to, [and] the Argentine State fully exercised
its defense, all under the framework of this proceeding before the [Inter-American
System for the Protection of Human Rights; however,] despite all this, contrary to all
predictions, in this case the [Inter-American Commission] has not included in its Report
on the merits all the facts denounced, nor all the individuals that [the representatives]
have identified as other victims of the enforced disappearance of Ivan [Eladio Torres
Millacura], some of which are covered by the provisional measures.” Therefore, they
requested that when the Court rules on the alleged violations of Articles 8 and 25 of the
American Convention, it “convict [the State], taking into consideration that to date it has
not provided adequate protection to the rights to life and physical integrity of the
persons related to the enforced disappearance of Ivan Eladio Torres [Millacura].”

47. The State argued that the Commission explicitly indicated in paragraph 74 of its
Report on the merits, in the subsection on the “position of the petitioners,” that the
representatives had held that the facts of the case constituted “violations to mental and
moral integrity and a denial of justice, to the detriment of Maria Leontina Millacura
Llaipén, Valeria Fabiola Torres, and Marcos [Alejandro] Torres [Millacura, that is, the
mother, sister, and brother of Mr. Torres Millacura], direct relatives of the disappeared
victim.” Likewise, in that Report, in its analysis of the violation of Article 5 of the
American Convention, the Commission specified only those individuals. However, the
State highlighted that in its conclusions, the Inter-American Commission also indicated
one of lvan Eladio Torres's nieces as a victim, as the Commission “accept[ed] the
statements of the petitioning party with regard to [Mr.] Torres Millacura's having been
the financial supporter of the family prior to his disappearance,” even though this “was
not proven by the representatives [...] or corroborated by the [...] Commission.”
Therefore, the State argued that based on this and on the elements proven in the case,
and on the Court’s jurisprudence, only Mr. Torres Millacura’s mother and two siblings
should be considered “immediate family.” Finally, the State indicated that in the brief of
pleadings and motions, the representatives “limit[ed] themselves to listing those persons
who formed part of or had formed part of [Ivan Eladio Torres’s] immediate family and to
making affirmations with regard to the afflictions allegedly suffered, without providing
documentary evidence to support these statements.” Those relatives included three of
Ivan Eladio Torres Millacura’s nieces. Therefore, the State argued that the claim could
not “be addressed by the [Court,] given that it was not considered by the Commission
during the proceeding before it.” The State reiterated that those who should be
“considered Ivan Torres Millacura's family members for the purposes of reparations are
his mother, his sister, and his brother.”

48. The Court recalls that in its settled jurisprudence since 20072, it has established
that alleged victims must be indicated in the Commission’s report issued in accordance
with Article 50 of the Convention, as well as in the application before this Court. In
addition, in keeping with Article 35 of the Rules of Procedure, it is the responsibility of
the Commission, and not of this Tribunal, to identify the alleged victims in a case before
the Court with precision and at the proper procedural moment. The Tribunal finds that
the Report on admissibility and on the merits indicated by the Commission dates from
the year 2009, which is to say, subsequent to the mentioned standard on the
identification of victims.

28 Since the Case of Garcia Prieto et al. v. El Salvador. Preliminary Objections, Merits, Reparations and

Costs. Judgment of November 20, 2007. Series C No. 168, paras. 65 to 68, and Case of Chaparro Alvarez and
Lapo Ifiguez v. Ecuador. Preliminary Objections, Merits, Reparations and Costs. Judgment of November 21,
2007. Series C No. 170, paras. 224 to 225. These judgments were made by the Tribunal during the same
period of sessions. See also, Case of Vera Vera et al. V. Ecuador, supra note 17, para. 28.
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49. The Tribunal observes that throughout the Report on the merits and the
application, the Inter-American Commission refers generally to Ivan Eladio Torres
Millacura's “family members” as victims in this case, and that the specification of who
these persons are is minimal and even variable at times. In particular, while referring to
the alleged violations of Articles 8 and 25 of the American Convention, both in its Report
on the merits and in the application, the Commission indicated that the State “ha[d] not
complied with its obligation to provide the victim and his family members with an
effective judicial remedy geared toward bringing the facts to light [...].” The Commission
did not specify the identities of these “family members.” Likewise, with regard to the
allegations regarding the violation of Article 5 of the American Convention “with respect
to the relatives of Ivan Eladio Torres,” in its Report on the merits, the Commission
indicated that it found that the State had violated that provision to the detriment of
Torres Millacura’s “closest relatives,” that is, “his mother[, Maria Leontina Millacura
Llaipén,] his sister[, Fabiola Valeria Torres], and his brother[, Marcos Alejandro Torres
Millacura].” However, in the application presented before the Court, the Commission
made the same allegation, but to the detriment of “lvan Eladio Torres [Millacura]’s
closest relatives,” without specifying who those relatives were. Additionally, the Tribunal
notes that in its “conclusions” in the Report on the merits, the Commission indicated that
the State had violated Articles 5, 8, and 25 of the Convention “to the detriment of the
relatives of the victim: specifically, his mother, brother, sister and[, in addition, his]
niece.” However, in its conclusions in the application, the Commission indicated that the
State had violated the same provisions “to the detriment of the relatives of the victim,”
without specifying who those individuals were. Finally, in the application, the Inter-
American Commission explicitly requested the measures of reparation “corresponding”
“in the case of Ivan Eladio Torres and his relatives, to wit, his mother, Maria[Leontina]
Millacura Llaipén, his sister, Fabiola Valeria Torres, and his brother, Marcos [Alejandro]
Torres [Millacura].” At this point, the Commission did not indicate any other family
members; the Tribunal notes, in particular, that it did not mention Mr. Torres Millacura's
niece.

50. In light of the foregoing, in this Judgment the Tribunal considers, in addition to
Mr. Ivan Eladio Torres Millacura, Mrs. Maria Leontina Millacura Llaipén, Mrs. Fabiola
Valeria Torres, and Mr. Marcos Alejandro Torres Millacura as alleged victims, due to the
fact that they are the only family members specified by the Inter-American Commission
with regard to whom reparations were requested for the violations alleged in the
application. Therefore, Ivan Eladio Torres Millacura’'s niece mentioned by the
Commission, Evelyn Paola Caba, will not be considered as an alleged victim. Nor will his
nieces lIvana Valeria Torres and Romina Marcela Torres, mentioned by the
representatives, be considered alleged victims (supra para 5).

B. Factual framework of the case.

B.1. Other facts alleged by the representatives.

51. The Court notes that in the brief of pleadings and motions, the representatives
referred to multiple facts?® that did not form part of the factual framework presented by

29 Stated generally, these facts are: the alleged detention and “beating” suffered by Ivan Eladio Torres

Millacura on 30 August 1998; the alleged police brutality suffered by Maria Leontina Millacura Llaipén; Mr.
Torres’s alleged detention on September 17, 2003, of Mr. Torres Millacura; the alleged forced entry into Mrs.
Millacura Llaipen’s home and the threats made against her on 1 October 2003; the alleged discrimination due
to nationality; Mrs. Millacura Llaipen’s visits to the First Precinct of the city of Comodoro Rivadavia, Province of
Chubut; alleged threats against Mrs. Millacura Llaipén’s attorneys and allegations that they were being
followed; alleged phone tapping against Mrs. Millacura Llaipén; the “petitions” before “political authorities and
before organized civil society; the “claims made before the universal human rights system”; the “claims before
the Republic of Chile”; the “Report on Citizen Security and Human Rights” of the Inter-American Commission;
as well as the events alleged with respect to Walter Marcos Mansilla, Diego Armando Alvarez, Dante Andrés
Caamafio, Luis Gajardo, Miguel Angel Sanchez, and David Hayes.
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the Inter-American Commission in the application. Indeed, in this document, the
Commission formulated pleadings of fact and law with regard to the alleged detentions
of Mr. Ivan Eladio Torres Millacura carried out in September and October 2003,
respectively, to his alleged detention and enforced disappearance as of October 3, 2003,
to the alleged lack of an investigation, prosecution, and punishment of those responsible
for his disappearance, and to the alleged physical and psychological effects on his family
members as a consequence of the facts (supra para. 2 and 3).

52. According to the reiterated jurisprudence of the Tribunal, the alleged victims and
their representatives may invoke the violation of other rights distinct from the ones
covered in the application as long as the alleged violations relate to facts already
contained in that document, as the alleged victims are the bearers of all the rights
enshrined in the Convention. Indeed, the application constitutes the factual framework of
the proceeding before the Court. For this reason, the representatives may not allege new
facts other than those alleged in the application, without prejudice to those facts which
allow for the explanation, clarification, or dismissal of facts that have been stated in the
application or in response to the claims set forth by the applicant. *° The exceptions to
this principle are classified as supervening and can be submitted before the Tribunal at
any stage of the proceedings prior to the rendering of the judgment. In sum, it falls to
the Court to safeguard procedural balance by deciding in each case whether to admit
pleadings of that nature. 3! Therefore, the Tribunal will not rule on facts alleged by the
representatives that are not contained in the application presented by the Commission,
nor on facts that do not explain, clarify, or invalidate those presented by the
Commission. Consequently, neither will the Court rule on allegations of law formulated
by the representatives based on such facts. Therefore, the Court will not rule on the
allegations raised by the representatives in relation to “Citizen Security and Human
Rights” and, by extension, the alleged violations of Articles 1(1), 2, 3, 4, 5, 7, 8, 19, 25,
and 26 of the American Convention; 1, 2, 6, and 8 of the Convention Against Torture; 111
of the Convention on Forced Disappearance, and the “Protocol of San Salvador.”

B.2. Provisional Measures.

53. In addition, in its response to the application, the State expressly indicated that
the statements of the Inter-American Commission and the representatives on the
provisional measures ordered by the Court in the matter of Millacura Llaipén et al.
regarding Argentina “should not be taken into consideration for the purpose of ruling on
this case, because although the facts of both proceedings are related, at issue are two
different proceedings that cannot be taken into consideration jointly.” It also argued that
“issues related to the processing of provisional measures cannot be taken under
consideration in the context of an adversarial case.” The State explicitly rejected “all
reference to the beneficiaries of the [measures] and [to] the [representatives’]
submission of documentation made under the framework of those measures.”

54. The Court notes that upon referring, in its application, to the proceedings on
provisional and precautionary measures, the Commission did not formulate allegations of
fact and law in that respect. It may be inferred from the pertinent paragraphs that the
mention of those proceedings serves only to place into context the facts that form part
of the factual framework of the case, with respect to which the Commission did allege
certain human rights violations. However, this does not occur with respect to some
allegations made by the representatives in their brief of pleadings and motions,

30 Cf. Case of the Mapiripdn Massacre V. Colombia. Preliminary Objections. Judgment of March 7, 2005.

Series C No. 122, para. 59; Case of Vera Vera et al. V. Ecuador, supra note 17, para. 32, and Case of Chocrén
Chocrén V. Venezuela, supra note 24, para. 42.

31 Cf. Case of the Mapiripan Massacre V. Colombia, supra note 16, para. 58; Case of Case of Vélez Loor

V. Panama. Preliminary Objections, Merits, Reparations and Costs. Judgment of November 23, 2010. Series C
No. 218, para. 43, and Case of Vera Vera et al. V. Ecuador, supra note 17, para. 32.
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particularly in the narration of events presented in relation to the violation of Articles
8(1) and 25 of the American Convention. 32

55. In this respect, first, the Tribunal observes that in this case, the purpose of the
proceedings on provisional measures is different from the purpose of the contentious
case in its procedural aspects, in the evaluation of evidence, and in the scope of the
decisions issued. ** Additionally, the Court highlights that even though the alleged
victims in this case are also beneficiaries of provisional measures, there are more
beneficiaries than there are alleged victims. Furthermore, the proceedings on provisional
measures have been carried out parallel to, but autonomously from, the proceedings on
the case before the Commission and the Court, with a factual framework that is broader
than that of this latter proceeding. Therefore, the Court notes that in this judgment, only
the findings of fact, the evidence, and legal arguments aired in the context of this
contentious case will be considered.

\ARN
RIGHTS TO RECOGNITION OF JURIDICIAL PERSONALITY, TO LIFE, TO HUMANE
TREATMENT [PERSONAL INTEGRITY, AND TO PERSONAL LIBERTY WITH
REGARD TO THE DUTY TO RESPECT THE RIGHTS OF IVAN ELADIO TORRES
MILLACURA

56. As indicated in this Judgment (supra para. 37), the Court accepted the State’s
acknowledgment of international responsibility with regard to the detentions and
subsequent enforced disappearance of Mr. Ivan Eladio Torres that took place between
September and October of 2003 in the city of Comodoro Rivadavia, Province of Chubut,
and the subsequent human rights violations of Articles 3, 3% 4,3 5,3 and 73 of the
American Convention, in relation to Article 1(1) *® of the Convention, along with the

32 Among other things, allegations related to alleged threats against witnesses of the events occurred to
Mr. Torres.

33 Case of Rios et al. V. Venezuela. Preliminary Objections, Merits, Reparations and Costs. Judgment of
January 28, 2009. Series C No. 194, para. 58, and Case of Perozo et al. V. Venezuela. Preliminary Objections,

Merits, Reparations and Costs. Judgment of January 28, 2009. Series C No. 195, para. 69.

34 The Article 3 of the American Convention on Human Rights establish that: “ Every person has the right
to recognition as a person before the law.”

35 The Article 4(1) of the American Convention on Human Rights stipulate that: “ Every person has the
right to have his life respected. This right shall be protected by law and, in general, from the moment of
conception. No one shall be arbitrarily deprived of his life.”

36 The Article 5 establish that:
1. Every person has the right to have his physical, mental, and moral integrity respected.

2. No one shall be subjected to torture or to cruel, inhuman, or degrading punishment or treatment.
All persons deprived of their liberty shall be treated with respect for the inherent dignity of the
human person.

[-]
37 The Article 7 establish that:
1. Every person has the right to personal liberty and security.

2. No one shall be deprived of his physical liberty except for the reasons and under the conditions
established beforehand by the constitution of the State Party concerned or by a law established
pursuant thereto.

[-]1
38 This Article states that:

The States Parties to this Convention undertake to respect the rights and freedoms recognized
herein and to ensure to all persons subject to their jurisdiction the free and full exercise of
those rights and freedoms, without any discrimination for reasons of race, color, sex, language,
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failure to comply with the obligation established in Article 2 of the Convention®®, all as
alleged by the Commission. In order to determine the scope of those violations, the
Court will first set forth the non-disputed facts related to this chapter and later specify
the human rights violations derived therefrom.

A) Non-disputed facts.

57. The facts in this Chapter cover: 1) Mr. Ivan Eladio Torres Millacura’s personal and
family information; 2) the pattern of police abuse in the Province of Chubut; 3) Mr.
Torres Millacura’s detentions in September 2003; and 4) the detention and subsequent
enforced disappearance of Mr. Torres starting on October 3, 2003.

A.1. Personal and family information on Ivan Eladio Torres Millacura.

58. According to the facts acknowledged by the State, Mr. Ivan Eladio Torres
Millacura was born in Castro, Chile, on November 24, 1976. At the time the facts in this
case took place, he was living with his mother, Maria Leontina Millacura Llaipén, his
sister, Fabiola Valeria Torres, and his sister’s daughter, Evelyn Paola Caba, in the city of
Comodoro Rivadavia, Province of Chubut, Argentina. Mr. Torres Millacura was the bread
winner for his mother, sister, and niece. He worked in construction, sometimes together
with his brother, Marcos Alejandro Torres Millacura, although at the time of his
disappearance, he was unemployed.

59. Mr. Torres Millacura met with his friends on streets and in plazas in Comodoro
Rivadavia’s downtown. He was frequently detained, threatened, and beaten by city
police. On several occasions, the detentions were carried out based on Law 815, the
“Organic Policing Law” of the Province of Chubut, which regulates inquiries into
individuals’ criminal records and means of living. At the time of his enforced
disappearance, Mr. Torres Millacura was 26 years old.

A.2. Practice of police abuse in the Province of Chubut.

60. The State acknowledged that in the Province of Chubut, police abuse occurred to
the detriment of poor young people. It was in the context of these abuses that the
detentions of Mr. Torres Millacura by the police took place in September 2003, as did his
detention and subsequent enforced disappearance starting in October 3, 2003, in the
city of Comodoro Rivadavia, located in the aforementioned Province. The Tribunal
observes that in her expert witness statement during the public hearing (supra para.
40), Mrs. Sofia Tiscornia referred extensively to the “permanent harassment”
perpetrated by the Chubut Provincial police under the protection of misdemeanor laws or
for inquires into criminal records or identity. The expert witness stated that “the laws
empowering police to repeatedly detain people can many times result in death, torture,
or, as in this case, a disappearance,” impacting “the least protected segments of
society.” Thus, she indicated that:

young people from poor neighborhoods [meet] in central parts of the city[, and it is] there where

religion, political or other opinion, national or social origin, economic status, birth, or any other
social condition.

39 This Article establish that:

Where the exercise of any of the rights or freedoms referred to in Article 1 is not already
ensured by legislative or other provisions, the States Parties undertake to adopt, in accordance
with their constitutional processes and the provisions of this Convention, such legislative or
other measures as may be necessary to give effect to those rights or freedoms.
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these territorial [...] security policies appear. [T]he police detain them for several reasons, in
some cases due to complaints from neighbors or [...] individuals who do not want to look at poor
people, in other cases because they are recruited to commit crimes by the police themselves [...]
The young people who refuse [...] are generally tortured, harassed, and many times killed. And
also because the police have to prove to the higher-ups that they are working, and in many
cases one way to measure this in a precinct is the number of people detained for identity checks.
The police themselves have said in [their] investigations [that they have] to “get the statistics.”
“Get the statistics” means detaining individuals to be able to hit the monthly number of
detainees that the supervisors require. For this reason, [she argues that what is at issue is] a
problem that is deeper than the willingness [...] or bad intentions of a group of [...] police
officer[s and] is part of the structure of the police force itself[...]

61. This can also be corroborated with the internal report prepared by the Human
Rights Secretariat of the Ministry of Justice, Security, and Human Rights of Argentina
issued in 2003 following an investigation on the domestic processing of the Torres
Millacura case. That report indicates that, “[y]Joung people from a poor background
suffer constant abuses by the local [...] police.” °

62. Regarding the pleading of the representatives to the effect that there is a practice
of enforced disappearances in the Province of Chubut, the expert witness Tiscornia
specified that no such practice existed. Rather, she said, police abuses take place in the
Province of Chubut that occasionally, such as in this case, lead to the disappearance of a
person.

A.3. Detentions of Mr. Torres Millacura in September of 2003.

63. The State acknowledged that on September 26, 2003, Mr. Torres was detained by
the Comodoro Rivadavia police and transported to the First Precinct of that city. This
detention was not registered in the corresponding daily police log. The case file before
the Tribunal indicates that the Comodoro Rivadavia Radio Command registration
corresponding to September 25 and 26, 2003, shows that at 3:12 on September 26,
2003, in response to a telephone call reporting the presence of two individuals with a
“suspicious attitude,” unit 479 of Comodoro Rivadavia’s first precinct (hereinafter “First
Precinct”) was dispatched and that “[Ivan Eladio Torres Millacura’s] arrest was carried
out.” ** It may be inferred from the testimony of police chief Fabian Alcides Tilleria that
given that Mr. Torres Millacura was already known in that precinct, and "[as] there
wasn't anything pertinent against him or any motives or merit for his detention, he was
released from the station” without that detention having been registered in the daily
police log. ** Another police officer who was working in the First Precinct on September
26, 2003, testified to the same effect.*®

40 Cf. Internal report drafted by the personal Secretary of Human Rights of the Justice, Security and

Human rights Ministry of Argentina (Case file of annexes to the application, tome I, folio 225).

4% Cf. Police report of September 25 and 26, 2003 of the Radioelectrical Command of Comodoro

Rivadavia (case file of annexes to the application, tome I, folio 400). See also, the Testimony of Fabian Alcides
Tilleria, Chief of the First Section of the Police Department, rendered before Examining Judge no. 2 on
December 11, 2003 (case file of annexes to the application, tome X, folio 7667), and the Testimony of Omar
Rubén Calfu submitted before the Administrative Preliminary Investigation Area of the Regional Unit of the
Comodoro Rivadavia Police on March 1, 2004 (case file annexes to the written final allegation of the State, folio
25667).

42 Cf. Testimony of Fabian Alcides Tilleria, Chief of the First Section of the Police Department, presented

to the Examining Judge no. 2 on December 11, 2003 (case file of annexes to the application, tome X, folios
7668 to 7669).

43 He indicated that "once in the station, [the detained persons] are identified, one as Ivan Torres and

the other by the surname Alvarez[.] The first, [that is, Mr. Torres,] was known and his background and means
of living were also known. He was identified and left the station[. With regard to] the other one[,] as he had no
documentation and there was no reliable [knowledge] of who he was, where he was living, his prior record, he
remained under arrest pending an inquiry into his priors and legitimate means of living under [L]aw 815.” Cf.
testimony of Juan Sandro Montecino given before the Administrative Preliminary Investigation Area of the
Regional Unit of the Comodoro Rivadavia Police, March 6, 2004 (case file of annexes to the final written
arguments of the State, folio 25674). See also, testimony of Sergio Omar Thiers given before the
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64. Also, the State acknowledged that in "September" of 2003, Mr. Torres Millacura
was detained by Comodoro Rivadavia police and taken to a place known as “Km. 8,”
when he was supposedly subjected to “an execution by firing squad.”

A.4. Detention and subsequent disappearance of Mr. Torres Millacura as of
October 3, 2003.

65. Finally, the State acknowledged that on October 2, 2003, near midnight, Mr.
Torres Millacura was with two friends in Bitto Plaza in Comodoro Rivadavia. His friends
entered an ice cream shop and from there they saw patrol car 469 with three police
officers inside pass close by Mr. Torres Millacura. Several minutes later, when they
returned to the Plaza, they did not find Mr. Torres Millacura. Since then, they did not see
him again.**

66. Mr. Torres Millacura was seen on October 3, 2003, in the Comodoro Rivadavia
First Precinct by Mr. David Hayes who, in a letter sent to Mrs. Maria Leontina Millacura
Llaipén, stated that during the early morning hours he saw through a bathroom window
how several police officers beat Mr. Torres Millacura. He saw him faint and how they
“dragged” him to stairway leading to the regional unit.*®* Miguel Angel Sanchez, who at
first refused to testify because he was “threatened,” was also there that same day.*®
However, in testimony given before a notary public (supra para. 39), he stated, in
keeping with the testimony of David Hayes, that Ivan Eladio Torres Millacura was beaten
and "dragged" from the police station. *’ This was the last day on which the whereabouts
of Mr. Torres Millacura were known.

67. Consequently, the State acknowledged that Mr. Torres Millacura was "the victim
of an enforced disappearance at the hands of State agents.”

B. Considerations of the Court.

B.1. Illegality and arbitrariness of the detentions of Mr. Torres Millacura in
September 2003.

68. The Tribunal finds it pertinent to indicate, as a preliminary issue, that the Inter-
American Commission's application made its pleadings in this section based on Article
10, subparagraph b), of Law 815 of the Province of Chubut. On this point, the Court
finds it necessary to clarify that, according to the information requested from the parties
while processing this case (supra para. 15), the provision cited by the Inter-American
Commission was not in force at the time of the facts. Indeed, the Commission cited a
version of the aforementioned Law 815 dated October 13, 1970, and sent this version to

Administrative Preliminary Investigation Area of the Regional Unit of the Comodoro Rivadavia Police, March 23,
2004 (case file of annexes to the final written arguments of the State, folio 25684).

a4 Cf. Testimony of Gerardo Atilio Colin rendered before Examining Judge no. 2 on October 23, 2003
(case file of annexes to the application, tome X, folio 7273), and Testimony of Luis Patricio Oliva rendered
before Examining Judge no. 2 on October 23, 2003 (case file of annexes to the application, tome X, folio
7277).

4 Cf. Letter written by David Hayes (case file of annexes to the application, tome 1, folio 448).

46 Cf. Testimony of Miguel Angel Sanchez rendered before Examining Judge no. 2 on November 27, 2003

(case file of annexes to the application, tome X, folio 7509 to 7511), and Testimony of Miguel Angel Sanchez
rendered before the Subrogant Examining Judge No. 2 on January 28, 2004 (case file of annexes to the
application, tome X, folios 7933 to 7935).

a7 Cf. Testimony rendered before the notary public by Miguel Angel Sanchez, of May 5, 2011 (case file on
the merits, tome II, folios 1159 to 1161).
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the Court.*® However, according to the clarifications, principally from the representatives
and the State, the law that was applied was modified by Law 4123, dated September 14,
1995. This version was later submitted to the Court. Therefore, the Court will examine
the pleadings regarding this chapter based on Article 10, subsection b), of the version of
Law 815 that was modified by Law 4123 and is applicable in this case. The Court also
finds it appropriate to note that, according to the clarification submitted by the State,
that Law is no longer currently in force. *°

69. The Convention has enshrined the prohibition of illegal or arbitrary detention or
imprisonment as a principal guarantee of liberty and individual security. The Court has
expressed, with regard to the detention, “that even though [..] the State has the right
and obligation to guarantee its security and maintain public order, its power is not
unlimited, since it has the duty, at all times, to apply procedures pursuant to Law and
respectful of the fundamental rights of all individuals under its jurisdiction.” *°

70. Thus, with the purpose of maintaining security and public order, the State
legislates and adopts various measures of a different nature to prevent and regulate
certain conduct of its citizens. One of those measures is to establish the presence of
police personnel in public spaces. Nevertheless, the Court notes that improper action
taken by State agents in their interaction with the individuals they should be protecting
represents one of the principal threats to the right to personal liberty, which, when
violated, risks also causing the violation of other rights, such as the rights to humane
treatment and, in some cases, to life. >*

71. Article 7 of the Convention enshrines guarantees that represent limits to State
agents' exercise of authority. Those limits are applied to instruments of State control,
one of which is detention. This measure is in compliance with the guarantees enshrined
in the Convention only as long as its application is exceptional and respects the principle
of the presumption of innocence, as well as the principles of legality, necessity, and
proportionality, all of which are indispensable in a democratic society. >

48 Cf. Law 815 "Organic Policing Law," Chapter 3, "Powers," Article 10.- For the exercise of the police

security functions established in this chapter, police may: [...] b) Detain all individuals whose criminal record
and means of living must be ascertained under circumstances that justify the detentions or when identification
is refused. The delay or detention of the party shall not last longer than the time necessary for identifying the
party and establishing domicile, conduct and means of living, without exceeding to period of 24 hours”

49 Currently the “Law XIX — N° 5 is applicable (before Law 815).” This is evident a result of the
clarifications presented by the State. That provision indicates the following in Article 10:

For the exercise of the function of security police established in this chapter, they shall:[...]

b) Hold the individual as necessary to obtain prior record under justifiable circumstances,
when identification is refused, when identification is missing, or when the identification
presented is not a certified identification document, providing an immediate account to the
Public Prosecutor.

In all cases the order shall come from the institution’s highest authorities and shall not
exceed six (6) hours. It must be recorded in the police registries set up for that purpose.
The detention shall not last longer than the amount of time necessary to meet the measure’s
objective. The detainee shall be informed of his or her right to notify a relative or trusted
individual and inform that person of his or her situation.

Cf. “Annex 59. List of laws on public security in force in the Province of Chubut” (case file of annexes to the
brief of pleadings and motions, tome XIX, folio 13342), and annex “LAW XIX - N° 5 (Before. Law 815)”,
submitted in the State’s brief of July 19, 2011 (case file on the Merits, tome 11, folio 5068).

50 Cf. Case of Velasquez Rodriguez V. Honduras, supra note 21, para. 154; Case of Servellon Garcia et

al. V. Honduras. Merits, Reparations and Costs. Judgment of September 21, 2006. Series C No. 152, para. 86,
and Case of Cabrera Garcia and Montiel Flores V. México. Preliminary Objection, Merits, Reparations and Costs.
Judgment of November 26, 2010. Series C No. 220, para. 87.

51 Cf. Case of Servell6n Garcia et al. V. Honduras, supra note 51, para. 87.

52 Cf. Case of the “Juvenile Reeducation Institute” V. Paraguay. Preliminary Objections, Merits,
Reparations and Costs. Judgment of September 2, 2004. Series C No. 112, para. 228; Case of Lopez Alvarez V.
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72. The Tribunal observes that Article 10, subparagraph b) of Law 815, which was in
force at the time, established the following for the police of the Province of Chubut:

For the exercise of the function of security police established in this chapter, they shall have the